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I.
AN OVERVIEW OF THE OFFICE OF SPECIAL COUNSEL

A.  
Role of OSC

1.
Protect individuals from prohibited personnel practices.

OSC is an independent investigative and prosecutorial agency in the Executive Branch. It receives and investigates allegations from federal employees, former employees and job applicants concerning prohibited personnel practices (PPPs) and other activities prohibited by civil service law, rule, or regulation; and, if warranted, initiates corrective or disciplinary action before the Merit Systems Protection Board (M.S.P.B.).


2.
Channel for individuals blowing the whistle.

OSC provides a secure channel through which information evidencing a violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety may be disclosed without fear of retaliation.

3.
Enforcement of the Hatch Act.

OSC enforces and provides advice concerning the Hatch Act, which governs the permissible scope of partisan political activity of government employees.

4.
Enforcement of the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 1994.

OSC may represent employees before the M.S.P.B. for violations of USERRA, which prohibits discrimination against employees or applicants because of their military service. 

B.  
Key Statutes

1.  Civil Service Reform Act of 1978 (P.L. 98-454).

2.  Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 (P.L. 101-12).

3.  1994 Office of Special Counsel Reauthorization Statute (P.L. 103-424).

4.  Hatch Act Reform Amendments of 1993 (P.L. 103-94).

5.  Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) 
of 1994 (P.L. 103-353).

6.  Legislative Branch Appropriations Act, 1997 (P.L. 104-197, § 315(b) (2)).

C.  
Access to OSC

1.
Toll Free Numbers.

a.  OSC Hotline


(800) 872-9855

b.  Whistleblower Disclosure Unit
(800) 572-2249

c.  Hatch Act Unit


(800) 85-HATCH (854-2824)

d.  TTY (TDD) Access

(800) 877-8339

2.
Addresses.

a.
U.S. Office of Special Counsel

    


1730 M Street, N.W., Suite 201

    


Washington, DC  20036-4505




(202) 653-2253

b.
U.S. Office of Special Counsel

   


San Francisco Bay Area Field Office

    


1301 Clay Street, Suite 365S

    


Oakland, CA  94612-5217




(510) 637-3460

c.
U.S. Office of Special Counsel

  


Dallas Field Office

   


525 Griffin Street, Rm. 824, Box 103

   


Dallas, TX  75202




(213)767-8871

3.
World Wide Web:
www.osc.gov

4.
E-mail for Hatch Act Advisory Opinions:
hatchact@osc.gov



5.
E-mail for Voluntary Complaint Mediation Program:    adr@osc.gov

II. 
INTAKE -- COMPLAINTS EXAMINING UNIT

A.  
Intake of new complaints (OSC Form 11) is handled by the Complaints Examining Unit (CEU).  CEU is comprised of attorneys and personnel management specialists who conduct initial reviews of allegations of prohibited personnel practices and certain other violations of law, rule, or regulation.  

B.  
The initial review evaluates information submitted by the complainant and may include a limited inquiry to determine whether the complaint warrants additional investigation.

C.
Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement must elect one of three remedies in a non-discrimination prohibited personnel practice case: (1) appeal to the M.S.P.B.; (2) negotiated grievance procedure; or (3) OSC complaint.  5 U.S.C. § 7121(g).  CEU screens complaints to ensure that the complainant has not elected another remedial procedure.  

D.  
If factual issues cannot be resolved by CEU or if there is sufficient evidence to suggest a possible violation within OSC's jurisdiction, the matter is referred to one of OSC’s Investigation/Prosecution Divisions for a field investigation.  

III.
ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION -- VOLUNTARY MEDIATION 



In selected complaints, OSC’s Alternative Dispute Resolution Unit may offer voluntary mediation to the complainant and employing agency in order to settle their dispute.  If accepted by both parties, OSC will offer trained mediators to act as neutral third parties to attempt to resolve the dispute.  

A.
Selection Criteria for Offering Mediation


1.
Nature of case.


2.
Relationship of parties.


3.
Complexity of case.


4.
Relief sought.

B.
Process is entirely voluntary and confidential.  If mediation results in a resolution, the result is reduced to writing and will bind the parties.  If mediation is unsuccessful, the case is transferred to an Investigation/Prosecution Division for a full field investigation.

IV.  
FIELD INVESTIGATION – INVESTIGATION/PROSECUTION DIVISIONS

A.  
Field investigations are conducted by attorneys and investigators in one of OSC’s three Investigation/Prosecution Divisions. 

B.  
OSC investigates complaints to the extent necessary to determine whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred or is to be taken.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(1)(A).

C. 
Information Gathering.


1. 
When requested by OSC, federal employees are required to provide sworn testimony, information and other documents, unless the disclosure of information is prohibited by law.  5 C.F.R. § 5.4.

2.
OSC investigators are authorized to administer oaths, examine witnesses, take depositions and receive evidence.  5 U.S.C. § 1212(b).

3.  
The testimony of any individual (including a private citizen) may be compelled by subpoena.  5 U.S.C. § 1212(b)(2).


4.  
There is no due process right to counsel during an OSC investigative interview, Ashford v. Dept. of Justice, 6 M.S.P.R. 458, 464 (1981), but OSC normally permits witnesses to have a personal legal representative present during interviews.  Attorneys who may be witnesses in the investigation, however, will not be permitted to participate as counsel for witness.  Additionally, OSC’s practice is to exclude agency representatives from all witness interviews, unless the agency representative is acting as the personal legal representative of a witness.


5.  
The fifth amendment right against compulsory self-incrimination may be asserted in any proceeding.  It attaches if there is a reasonable belief that the witness’ statements will be used in a criminal proceeding.  When a federal employee invokes the fifth amendment right in an OSC investigation, OSC still may compel the employee’s testimony through threat of disciplinary action, including removal from office, if OSC informs the witness that he will be given use immunity for any statements made.  Use immunity means that no statements made under a threat of disciplinary action will be used against the employee in a criminal proceeding.  Kalkines v. United States, 473 F.2d 1391, 1393 (Ct. Cl. 1973).


6.  
OSC normally records the results of an interview on a written memorandum. For subject and important interviews, OSC relies heavily on tape recordings to accurately capture the witness’s statements.  Transcripts of these recordings are admissible in MSPB hearings.  See Middleton v. Dept. of Treasury, 23 M.S.P.R. 223, 227 (1984).

D.
Scope and Extent of Investigation

The scope and extent of the investigation is determined by the allegations in the complaint.  Allegations, however, are not static and may change during the course of an investigation.  Sometimes the complainant will add new allegations during the investigation, or sometimes OSC will decide to expand the investigation to cover new allegations that are developed in the investigation.  Although most investigations are initiated with a complaint, OSC has the authority to investigate personnel actions on its own initiative.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(a)(5).


1.
OSC often uses an accelerated case team (ACT) to handle less serious allegations.  The ACT usually will investigate these cases by telephone, mail, fax and e-mail communications.


2.
OSC emphasizes a team approach in its investigations.  In complicated investigations, an attorney frequently will work closely with the investigators and participate actively in the information gathering and case-evaluation process.  In all cases, investigators consult regularly with an OSC attorney during the investigation phase.  


3.
In appropriate cases, OSC may conduct a joint investigation with OPM when both agencies have parallel investigative responsibilities.  OSC rarely conducts joint investigations with other agencies because of the potential for conflicts of interest.


4.
OSC emphasizes negotiated settlement of complaints.  Most corrective actions are achieved through negotiation, not litigation.  

E.
Agency Liaison Program


OSC has established an agency liaison program.  If such a program has been established for the agency being investigated, OSC will contact the designated OSC liaison with that agency to facilitate the logistics of the investigation.  An agency liaison may be asked to assist in obtaining relevant documents, scheduling witnesses, arranging for interview rooms, and facilitating counsel for investigation subjects, where appropriate.  The liaison has no formal role in determining the manner or scope of the OSC investigation.  If investigative circumstances require, OSC investigators may by-pass agency liaisons to protect the integrity of the investigation or the identity of a material witness. 

F.
Agency Certification Program


Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 2302(c), each agency is obliged to inform its workforce about the rights and remedies available under the Whistleblower Protection Act.  OSC’s Certification Program allows federal agencies to meet their statutory obligation.  OSC will certify that an agency is compliance with section 2302(c) if the agency meets the following requirements:


1.
Placing informational posters at its facilities.


2.
Providing information about PPPs and the WPA to new employees as part of its orientation process.


3.
Providing information about PPPs and the WPA to current employees.


4.
Training supervisors on PPPs and the WPA; and


5.
Creating a computer link from the agency’s web site to OSC’s web site.

G.  
Disclosure Policy


The disclosure or release of information obtained in an OSC investigation is restricted by OSC’s governing statute.  OSC is prohibited from disclosing information "from or about" a complainant except in accordance with the Privacy Act and may not respond to any inquiry regarding "an evaluation of the performance, ability, aptitude, general qualification, character, loyalty, or suitability for any personnel action” of any complainant.  In either instance, OSC is allowed to provide relevant information to another federal agency if the complainant has consented or if the requested information is relevant to national security.  5 U.S.C. § 1212(g).

H.
Stay Cases




1.  
OSC may request any member of the Board to stay a personnel action whenever there are reasonable grounds for OSC to believe that a personnel action was taken, or is to be taken, as a result of a prohibited personnel practice.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(1)(A)(I); 5 C.F.R. § 1210.127.

2.  
Initial Stay of 45 Days.  The initial stay shall be granted for 45 days unless the Board member determines from the facts and circumstances involved that a stay would not be appropriate.  Special Counsel v. Federal Emergency Management Agency, 43 M.S.P.R. 527, 529-30 (1990); 5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(1)(A)(ii); 5 C.F.R. § 1201.127(c)(1).  The initial stay "can be granted on the basis of relatively little information."  Special Counsel v. Drug Enforcement Agency, 45 M.S.P.R. 368, 370 (1990) (granting stay based on nature of disclosures and proximity in time of reassignment).

3. 
If no Board member affirmatively denies the request for initial stay within 3 calendar days of the request, a 45-day stay shall be granted by operation of law.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(1)(A)(iii); 5 C.F.R. § 1201.127(c)(1).

4.  
At OSC's request, the Board may extend the initial stay for any period the Board determines is appropriate, after first providing the agency with an opportunity to comment on the request for extension.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(1)(B) and (C); 5 C.F.R. § 1201.127(c)(2).

5.  
A stay order will preserve the status quo.  It will not be imposed retroactively.  Thus, for example, back pay and attorney fees issues are deferred until final resolution of the case.

6. 
Informal Stays.  In some instances, OSC may request an agency to stay an action voluntarily before OSC requests a stay from the MSPB.  

V.
LEGAL REVIEW AND LITIGATION – INVESTIGATION/PROSECUTIVE DIVISION

A.  
The evidence gathered and reports generated by the OSC investigators are analyzed by the attorneys in one of the Investigation/Prosecution Division to determine whether there is sufficient evidence for OSC to prosecute the case before the MSPB for corrective action and/or disciplinary action.

B.
The decision to initiate corrective and/or disciplinary action is made by the Special Counsel, in consultation with the case attorney and Division heads.


C.
Complaints for corrective and/or disciplinary action are litigated before the M.S.P.B.  Corrective actions are filed against the appropriate federal agency and disciplinary actions are filed against the alleged offending official.   

VI.  THE TWELVE PROHIBITED PERSONNEL PRACTICES (5 U.S.C. § 2302(b))

Under section 2302(b) of title 5, United States Code, any employee with authority to take, direct others to take, recommend or approve any personnel action is prohibited from the following:

1.  Discrimination.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to discriminate based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, wage discrimination based on gender, handicapping condition, marital status or political affiliation.  It was not intended that OSC duplicate or bypass the procedures established in agencies and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission for resolving such discrimination complaints.  Therefore, it is the general policy of the Special Counsel, as set forth at 5 C.F.R. § 1810.1, not to take action on such allegations of discrimination as they are more appropriately resolved through the EEO process.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(1)(A)-(E). Nevertheless, OSC will investigate and prosecute complaints based on egregious discrimination, particularly harassment, see, e.g., Special Counsel v. Eubanks, 76 M.S.P.R. 405 (1997) (sexual harassment); Special Counsel v. Russell, 28 M.S.P.R. 162 (1985) (sexual harassment); Special Counsel v. Zimmerman, 36 M.S.P.R. 274 (1988) (religious harassment), or in cases involving important issues of law.  See, e.g., Hillen v. Department of Army, 29 M.S.P.R. 690 (1986) (Hillen I).

2.  Improper consideration of certain recommendations.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to solicit or consider any recommendation or statement, oral or written, with respect to any individual who requests or is under consideration for any personnel action unless such recommendation or statement is based on the personal knowledge or records of the person furnishing it and consists of an evaluation of work qualifications and performance and an evaluation of the character, loyalty, or suitability of such individual.  The Federal Circuit has held that the prohibition relates to statements from outsiders like Members of Congress, and was initiated to prevent political or partisan interference in personnel actions.  Depte v. United States, 715 F.2d 1481 (Fed. Cir. 1983).  The Board has followed this approach. Giltner v. Dept. of Air Force, 39 M.S.P.R. 253 (1988): Wenzel v. Dept. of Interior, 33 M.S.P.R. 344 (1987).  Thus, (b)(2) has never been successfully applied to recommendations or statements where no political motive is apparent.  See Woodward v. Dept. of Interior, 40 M.S.P.R. 649, 654 n.7 (1989); Wenzel, 33 M.S.P.R. at 351-52.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(2).

3.  Discrimination based on political activity.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to discriminate based on an individual's political activity.  There must be evidence that a person's political activity was coerced such as the pressure to provide political contributions or service.  The taking of any personnel action against any employee or applicant in reprisal for his refusal to engage in such political activity is also prohibited.  There is no known case law.  Most cases involving partisan political activity are processed by OSC under the Hatch Act.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(3).

4.  Obstruct the right to compete for employment.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to deceive or willfully obstruct any person from competing for employment.  For this to occur, the employee who has the authority to take or recommend a personnel action must willfully obstruct the person's right to compete for employment.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(4).  Typically, these cases involve the obstruction of individuals who, for merit-based reasons, are entitled to a competitive advantage over a more favored candidate.  See, e.g., Special Counsel v. Ross, 34 M.S.P.R. 197 (1987) (false reporting of failure to respond); Special Counsel v. Hoban, 24 M.S.P.R. 154 (1984) (false reporting of failure to respond).

5.  Influence withdrawal from competition.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to influence any person to withdraw from competition for any position to improve or injure the employment prospects of any other person.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(5).  The same activity is prohibited by 5 C.F.R. §§ 5.4 and 330.601.  These cases have a variety of common fact patterns.  See, e.g., Special Counsel v. Brown, 61 M.S.P.R. 559 (1994) (displaced employee); Special Counsel v. Ross, 34 M.S.P.R. 197 (1987) (working certificate); Special Counsel v. Filiberti, 27 M.S.P.R. 498 (1984) (veterans preference); Special Counsel v. Foster, MSPB Doc. No. CB-1215-00-0002-T-1 (Initial Decision, Mar. 17, 2000)(NCUA false duty station practice).

6.  Provide an unauthorized advantage.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to grant an unauthorized preference or advantage to any person to improve or injure the employment prospects of any particular employee or applicant.  This occurs where: (1) a preference or advantage is granted; (2) the official who granted the advantage or preference had personnel authority; (3) the preference or advantage is not authorized by civil service law, rule, or regulation; and (4) the official who granted the preference or advantage did so purposefully to improve the prospects of one employee or applicant or to injure the prospects of another employee or applicant.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(6).  



a.  An "unauthorized preference" as used in the statute is more than just alleged favoritism, or a preconceived idea that one person may be the best selectee for a particular position.  It is the granting of some illegal advantage, and involves intentional and purposeful manipulation of the system to insure that one person is favored, and another person is disadvantaged.  “Preselection” is not, by itself, a prohibited personnel practice, but must be accompanied by evidence of a preference not authorized by civil service law, rule, or regulation.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(6).

b.  Common fact patterns: Use of temporary appointment authority and restricting advertisement of vacancy in order to hire a preferred applicant where applicant would not have been otherwise eligible for appointment under normal merit promotion announcement, Special Counsel v. Byrd, 59 M.S.P.R. 561 (1993); improper classification of position for the purpose of selecting preferred applicant, Special Counsel v. Brown, 61 M.S.P.R. 559, 570-72 (1994); retroactive promotion to protect employee against effects of RIF, Special Counsel v. DeFord, 28 M.S.P.R. 98, 102-03 (1985); preparation of superior performance appraisal to enhance employee’s prospects for promotion, Special Counsel v. Hoban, 24 M.S.P.R. 154, 160-61 (1984).

7.  Nepotism.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to engage in nepotism.  An employee may not appoint, employ, promote, advance, or advocate for appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement, in or to a position any individual who is a relative of such employee if the position is in the agency in which the employee is serving as a public official or over which the employee exercises jurisdiction or control as such an official.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(7).

a.  Relative is defined at 5 U.S.C. § 3110 as "an individual who is related to the public official as a father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half brother or half sister."




b.  This provision does not prohibit supervisory-subordinate relationships for covered relatives, as long as the superior does not appoint, employ, promote, advance or advocate for the appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement a covered relative.  Nevertheless, supervisory-subordinate relationships are not advisable because of the unavoidable appearance of lack of impartiality, which, in turn, may interfere with agency efficiency.  

8.  Reprisal for whistleblowing.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to take or fail to take, or to threaten to take or fail to take, a personnel action with respect to any employee or applicant because of any disclosure of information by an employee or applicant which the employee or applicant reasonably believes evidences:  (1) a violation of law, rule, or regulation; (2) gross mismanagement; (3) gross waste of funds; (4) abuse of authority; or (5) substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, if such disclosure is not specifically prohibited by law, or specifically required by Executive Order to be kept secret.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).  In instances where the disclosure is required by law or Executive Order to be kept secret, it may be protected as whistleblowing only to the extent that the disclosure is made to OSC or OIG.

9.  Reprisal for exercising an appeal right or assisting OSC or OIG.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to take or fail to take, or to threaten to take or fail to take a personnel action against any employee: (1) because of the exercise of an appeal, complaint, or grievance right granted by any law, rule, or regulation; (2) for testifying or for otherwise lawfully assisting any individual in the exercise of any such right; (3) for cooperating with or disclosing information to the Inspector General of any agency, or the Special Counsel; or (4) for refusing to obey an order that would require the individual to violate the law.  5 U.S.C.§ 2302(b)(9). 

10.  Discrimination based on nonperformance related conduct.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to discriminate for or against any employee or applicant for employment on the basis of conduct which does not adversely affect the performance of the employee or applicant or the performance of others; except that an agency is not prohibited from taking into account, in determining suitability or fitness, any conviction of the employee or applicant for any crime under the laws of any state, or the District of Columbia, or the United States.  This is intended to prohibit reprisal for nonjob-related, off-duty conduct.  5 U.S.C.§ 2302(b)(10).

11.  Violate veteran’s preference.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to take or fail to take a personnel action if such action would violate a veteran’s preference requirement.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(11).  In 1998, Congress added this prohibition to the original 11 prohibited personnel practices in the Veterans Employment Opportunities Act of 1998 (Pub. L. 105-339).  Failure to award additional points to preference eligibles in competitive examinations as required by 5 U.S.C. § 3309 or failure to grant veterans preference in appointing from a competitive certificate as required by 5 U.S.C. § 3318 would be a PPP under this provision.

12.  Violation of a law, etc., implementing a merit system principle.  It is a prohibited personnel practice to take or fail to take any personnel action if taking or failing to take such action violates any law, rule, or regulation that implements or directly concerns one of the merit systems principles set forth at 5 U.S.C. § 2301.  For this to occur, a personnel action and a violation of a law, rule, or regulation implementing or directly concerning one of the merit system principles must be present.  5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(12).  This prohibition is most commonly applied to violations of the first amendment, e.g., Special Counsel v. EPA, 70 M.S.P.R. 41 (1996), and 5 U.S.C. § 7211 (interference with right to provide information to Congress).

VII.  
REMEDIES

A.  Corrective Action.

1.  Corrective Action for Prohibited Personnel Practices.

Where the Special Counsel demonstrates that a prohibited personnel practice has occurred, the Board may order corrective action as it considers appropriate.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(b)(4).

The 1994 amendments to the WPA set forth two examples of the type of corrective action that may be ordered by the MSPB:

a.  Status quo ante.  Placement of the individual as nearly as possible in the position he would have been in had the prohibited personnel practice not occurred. 5 U.S.C. § 1214(g)(1).  Under traditional equitable principles of the Back Pay Act, this includes payment of back pay (including overtime) and interest, as well as restoration of benefits.  Martin v. Dept. of Air Force, 1999 WL 553416 (Fed. Cir., Jul. 30, 1999); Special Counsel v. Dept. of Veterans Affairs, 81 M.S.P.R. 601 (1999).

b.  Reasonable and foreseeable consequential damages.  The Act also requires reimbursement for reasonable attorney fees, medical costs incurred, travel expenses and “any other reasonable and foreseeable consequential damages."  5 U.S.C. § 1214(g)(2).  This remedy is also available in an Individual Right of Action appeal.  5 U.S.C. § 1221(g)(2).  An appeal will not be made moot by the cancellation of a challenged personnel action if the employee’s claim for consequential damages has not also been resolved.  Walton v. Dept. of Agriculture, 78 M.S.P.R. 401 (1998).  Physical pain and suffering, emotional distress, or other nonpecuniary damages do not qualify as consequential damages under section 1214(g)(2).  Kinney v. Dept. of Agriculture, 82 M.S.P.R. 338 (1999).

(1)  Reasonable attorney fees.

The Reauthorization Act provides that in an OSC case, corrective action may include the reimbursement of reasonable attorney fees.  5 U.S.C. § 1214(g)(2).  The individual claimant must show:  (1) that attorney-client relationship exists; (2) that corrective action was ordered; and (3) that the attorney fees being requested are reasonable.  5 C.F.R. §§ 1201.201-1201.203.  The OSC corrective action statute is not a “prevailing party” attorney fee statute.  Eligibility for fees is part of a corrective action award, not dependent on a “prevailing party/interest of justice” determination as in appellate cases.  See 5 U.S.C. § 7701(g) (fees may be awarded to the prevailing appellant in the interest of justice).  

(2) Costtc \l3 "Costs.

Although section 1214(g)(2) only mentions medical costs as a reimbursable expense, the legislative history provides that Congress intended to allow an employee to recover "any other reasonable costs incurred directly or indirectly with the litigation."  S. Rep. No. 358, 103d Cong., 2d Sess. 8 (1994).  Further, the legislative history notes that Congress wanted to adopt the standard set in Bonggat v. Dept. of the Navy, 59 M.S.P.R. 175 (1991), that allows a prevailing employee to recover costs directly incurred by the employee.  Id.

i. tc \l4 "a.   Medical.  Medical expenses incurred as a consequence of the PPP are reimbursable, including future medical expenses that can be proven with reasonably certainty.  Pastor v. Dept. of Veterans Affairs, 87 M.S.P.R.  609 (2001).

ii.  Litigation.  Although no decisions have been issued under the new section 1214(g) authority, presumably employees will be able to recoup litigation costs such as copying, clerical service, word processing, facsimile, and postage.  See Bonggat, 59 M.S.P.R. at 179-80.  Further, the employee might be able to recoup those litigation costs incurred by an attorney which previously were not considered part of attorney's fees under 5 U.S.C. § 7701 (g)(1).   Such costs would include witness fees and expenses, fees for stenographic transcripts, compensation of expert witnesses, investigations expenses, and attorney's photocopying costs.  But cf. Bennett v. Dept. of the Navy, 669 F.2d 1140, 1145-46 (Fed. Cir. 1983); Koch v. Dept. of Commerce, 19 M.S.P.R. 219,  222 (1984).

(3) Travel expenses.

tc \l3 "  Travel Expenses.Travel expenses incurred by an employee's representative were and continue to be reimbursable as a part of attorney's fees under section 7701(g)(1).  See Bennett, 669 F.2d at 1146.  Further, travel expenses incurred by the employee will probably be reimbursable.  See Bonggat, 59 M.S.P.R. at 179-80.


B.  Transfer Preferencetc \l3 "  Transfer Preference
If the Board finds that an employee has suffered a prohibited personnel action under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), the head of an agency may grant a preference to that employee to transfer to a position of the same status and tenure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 3352.  The employee exercises his statutory right of preference by applying to transfer to any similar position within his own agency or any other executive agency.  5 U.S.C. § 3352(b).

C.  OSC Disciplinary Actions

1.   OSC is authorized to request disciplinary action against an employee for committing a prohibited personnel practice.  5 U.S.C. § 1215.


2.  In an OSC-initiated disciplinary action before the MSPB, the charged official is entitled to:  (1) an opportunity to respond to the complaint; (2) legal or other representation; (3) a hearing and a transcript kept of the hearing; and (4) a written decision.

3. Under the 1994 amendments to the WPA, attorney fees in an OSC disciplinary action may be awarded to a charged employee against the OSC if the employee is the prevailing party and fees are determined to be warranted in the interest of justice.  The standard for attorneys fees is currently the subject of an OPM petition for review in the Federal Circuit in James v. Santella, Fed. Cir. Misc. Doc. No. 689.    

VIII.
Avoiding OSC Complaints

A.
Actions by Supervisors that Lead to Complaints

· Failing to communicate with employees.

In general and particular about decisions affecting them.

· Poor communication with employees.
Providing limited or erroneous information.

Providing information only to certain employees.

· Acting on assumptions without full knowledge, acting on limited information, or acting on information from limited sources.

Actions by Supervisors that Lead to Complaints, con’t.

· Making decisions on personal or subjective bases.

Decisions should be made on objective, measurable or definable bases.

· Failing to step back and examine how employees and co-workers perceive your behavior and actions.

· Having out-of-date, inaccurate performance standards for employees.

· Failing to inform employees of performance and conduct expectations initially.

· Failing to provide employees with regular and ongoing feedback in a

non-hostile, non-threatening manner.
· Failing to keep substantive, relevant records to support your decisions.

· Acting in isolation.

· Lack of consistency in supervising and managing employees.

Ignoring or avoiding employees with whom you feel uncomfortable.

· Showing favoritism (details, training, preferential work assignments, excused tardiness and absences, etc.) to employees that you personally like or with whom you have a social relationship.

· Failing to take TIMELY appropriate action.

Or belatedly taking action as an emotional reaction.

· Selecting managers and supervisors based solely on technical expertise or other reasons without regard to their for their managerial skills (i.e., interpersonal skills or ability to manage work or direct others to accomplish work).

B. Actions by Supervisors to Avoid Complaints

· Ensure that Managers and Supervisors receive training on merit system principles and PPPs.

· Keep the merit systems concepts on your radar screen.

The smell test

The Washington Post Test

· Be measured in your speech and actions.

· Seek expert advice when you are unsure about a decision.

· Deal with problems in a timely manner (i.e., as they occur).

Avoids the appearance of a bad motive or hidden agenda.

· Be consistent in your management of employees.

· Document your communications and decisions.
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